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... the great voyage you undertook for the promotion of natural history ... will be the most scientific and industrious event that has ever happened to that useful & enchanting study[.] It may justly be call’d the Argonautic Expedition for the study of nature ...


Emanuel Mendes Da Costa, State Rowe King’s Bench Prison, to Daniel Solander, 23 September 1771
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In 1902 the Australian artist E. Phillips Fox (1865–1915) completed a large historical painting entitled ‘Landing of Captain Cook at Botany Bay’. Now in the collection of the National Gallery of Victoria, it is a familiar Australian icon. During the 1930s it was even incorporated on an Australian bank note. Fox’s image is symbolic of a fundamental assumption of anglo-centric Australian historiography, that Cook’s landing at Kurnell and the raising of the Union Jack of Queen Anne was somehow the birth of modern Australia. At Cook’s side is the young Joseph Banks (1743–1820), the so-called ‘Father of Australia’. There is no sign of the Tahitian Tupaia. In its emerging myths, newly-federated White Australia had no room for brown faces other than cowering Aborigines. Some metres behind Banks, and identically attired, is a curious gentleman bearing the visage of Daniel Solander. Unlike the decisively outstretched arms and firmly placed feet of Cook and Banks, Solander’s hands and bent knees seem to quiver with indecision. His eyes are fixed on Banks and to the beholder he is an embellishment rather than a central player in the pantomime of colonial possession about to unfold. Who then was this enigmatic figure on the beach at Kurnell in April 1770?


Solander was the first Swede to circle the globe and was one of the first Europeans to visit the south-western Pacific. He was unquestionably one of the founders of botany and zoology in Australia, but has been overshadowed by Banks and marginalized by Australian historians. In the Pacific basin alone, Banks and Solander described 222 different species of fish then unknown to science. And in the botanical collection he made with Banks, there were 110 previously unknown genera and 1300 new species—all described and provisionally named and classified. Banks had planned to publish the botanical results of the voyage in a massive work of over 700 plates to be called the Florilegium. Solander’s sudden death from a stroke in 1782, the recession induced by the American War of Independence and Banks’ own increasingly diverse interests led to the cancellation of the project. But even before the Florilegium was abandoned, Banks had written: ‘Solander’s name will appear on the title page beside mine, since everything was written through our combined labour. While he was alive, hardly a single sentence was written while we were not together’.1 Had the Florilegium been published in the eighteenth century it would certainly have secured both Banks’ and Solander’s scientific reputations. Instead the world had to wait until the 1980s for Alecto Historical Editions, in association with the British Museum (Natural History), to publish this splendid work in colour from the original copper plates.


The manuscripts Solander bequeathed to posterity are large in number and rich in taxonomic detail, but his reputation has suffered mainly because of his small number of publications and accusations that he was lazy. Although the Florilegium was abandoned and Solander’s name is not now formally associated with most of the plants and animals he collected, his specimens were studied and his detailed descriptions were appropriated by other naturalists. In 1925 Thorgny Krok listed 65 publications which incorporated Solander’s work.2 This number has steadily climbed. In his lifetime Solander was always a generous source of advice. An understanding of the demands made by his correspondents and colleagues, at a time when he had to fulfil professional duties at the British Museum (and for Sir Joseph Banks), helps us to judge him more kindly.


Solander made a major contribution to modern museology and taxonomy in describing and cataloguing the natural history collection of the early British Museum. Also of pioneering significance were his plant classifications for Kew Gardens, his arrangement of the natural history collections of the Duchess of Portland and Sir Joseph Banks, and his assistance to many of the leading naturalists of his day. In doing so he had a crucial role in implanting the Linnean system in Britain and the United States.3


This biography of Daniel Solander has had a long and circuitous genesis. To a considerable degree it stems from a fascination with Carl Linnaeus which I have had since I was eleven years old. When I learned that Solander, naturalist on James Cook’s Endeavour, had been one of the favourite students of the founder of modern taxonomy, my interest in him was immediately kindled. The more I dug the more I realized that Solander’s life, stamped with the enquiring spirit of the Enlightenment, was one of the grand adventures of the eighteenth century. Aside from the historic Endeavour voyage, his Arctic travels, involvement in industrial espionage in England, thwarted love for Linnaeus’ daughter and friendship with great men such as Samuel Johnson, Matthew Boulton and Benjamin Franklin offered an exciting biographical canvas.


Aside from Banks’ survey of Solander’s life published in the Upfostrings Sälskapets Tidningar (Stockholm), 21 February 1785, one of the earliest biographical accounts we have is a memoir by James Edward Smith, in his A Selection of the Correspondence of Linnaeus and other Naturalists. Smith was the founder of the Linnean Society of London and came to own many of Solander’s letters to Linnaeus. These had been inherited by Carl Linnaeus the younger (1741–83) as part of his father’s library. When he died in 1783, they were offered to Sir Joseph Banks. He declined them, but suggested to Smith that he make a bid. Smith was successful and made a lifelong career from his ownership of the Linnean collection and publication of manuscripts and letters in Linnaeus’ library. To translate Solander’s letters in his possession, he secured the assistance of Anna Gurney (1795–1857) a remarkable scholar and linguist related to the Quaker prison reformer Elizabeth Fry. They were never published, but Smith did go to press with sixteen of Solander’s letters to John Ellis. Smith’s assessment of Solander was particularly unfair. He wrote of him subject to the ‘dissiption of London society’ and accused him of ‘indolence induced by a sedentary and luxurious life’ and of being neglectful of his ‘epistolary correspondence’. He conceded, nevertheless, that,


It was Solander who reduced our garden plants to order, and laid the foundation of the Hortus Kewensis of his friend Aiton. His instructions made every body correct and systematic, and introduced Linnaean learning and precision, in spite of opposition, which sometimes assumed considerable authority ... No one ever came so near his great teacher in specific discrimination of plants.4


It took more than a century for Solander’s life to receive new treatment based on original scholarship. This was by Robert E. Fries (1876–1966) in his article ‘Daniel Solander’, published in the yearbook of the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences, in 1940, to coincide with the release of the Solander Commemorative Medal sculpted by Erik Lindberg (1873–1966) and struck by the academy. This was followed by the work of Arvid H. Uggla (1883–1964), who in 1954–55 published six of Linnaeus’ letters to Solander with a historical introduction and annotations. The most detailed survey to date, however, has been by Roy Anthony Rauschenberg in the Transactions of the American Philosophical Society (1968). Rauschenberg’s work has been a major source of inspiration, but it nevertheless has its limitations. It appears to have been grounded in English and German language sources and selected (sometimes flawed) translations from the Swedish (such as Anna Gurney’s), with little or no ancillary field research. As wide ranging as Rauschenberg’s pioneering study is, it contains only limited discussion of Solander’s formative years and carries no hint of his clandestine activities in London in the 1760s.


With the 250th anniversary of Solander’s birth came renewed interest in the naturalist’s life. In his birthplace, a conference was organized and the papers presented were ultimately published in a Swedish anthology, Daniel Solander, 1733–1782: Naturvetenskapsman och världsomseglare in 1983 under the editorial hand of Christian Gisselquist and Per Tingbrand. The following year, several of these papers also appeared in English in the British journal the Archives of Natural History.5 This present work seeks to consolidate the insights of previous scholars of Solander’s life (however cursory or specialized in their focus) with the fruits of new research and an intensive study of his correspondence which gives him a voice in the recounting of his life and adventures. The result is the first full biography of this important eighteenth-century naturalist who not only circled the globe under sail but ranged as far north as the Arctic and as far south as Tierra del Fuego.
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Piteå


Far in the swale where poverty retires,


And sings what nature and what truth inspires:


The charms that rise from rural scenery,


Which he in pastures and in woods admires;


The sports, the feelings of his infancy,


And such like artless things, how mean soe’er they be.


John Clare, ‘The Village Minstrel’


Daniel Solander was born in Piteå Gammelstad, on the Gulf of Bothnia in northern Sweden, on 19 February 1733.1 Two days later he was baptised2 in the early fifteenth-century stone church of Öjebyn (as the old town of Piteå is now known), where his grandfather and namesake was vicar. Beside the church stands an ancient belfry—half fortress, half sacramental ornament. It is the oldest intact structure in the province of Norrbotten.3 Only twelve years before, during the Great Northern War, the old town of Piteå upstream on the Piteå River and the new town on the island of Häggholmen had been looted and torched by a Russian galley fleet. The proud belfry and church were among the very few town buildings not burned to the ground. After the Russian raid the terrified survivors sought consolation behind the massive granite walls of the town’s spiritual heart; and like a fresh shoot springing from blackened stubble, the community began to rebuild from its kernel of hope.


At the time of Daniel’s birth, Piteå was still rebuilding. The population of the new town numbered only 500 to 600 people. Life in this region was difficult even in the best of times. A little over a degree south of the Arctic Circle, spring, summer and autumn seem just a brief thaw to a biographer from a temperate (even sub-tropical) climate such as Sydney’s. Aside from cattle rearing and crops in relatively fertile local soils, the economy of eighteenth-century Piteå was largely based on trade in commodities sought-after in Stockholm and beyond. Local forests were a rich source of timber and tar. They were also an important source of charcoal for the iron founders exploiting one of Sweden’s other rich natural resources.4 And the cold local waters of the head of the Gulf of Bothnia (which Carl Linnaeus noted in his Lapland journal were ‘a mile out at sea ... scarcely salt, on account of the numerous rivers’), supported valuable fisheries.


Not only did a long and harsh winter gnaw at the souls of those who had to draw sustenance from forest, field and flow, but Piteå remained a tenuous outpost on the frontier of the Arctic where other human problems were the handiwork of miscreants both real and imaginary. A mere eight months before Daniel was born, Carl Linnaeus recorded that on arriving at old Piteå he was confronted with ‘a gibbet, with a couple of wheels, on which lay the bodies of two Finlanders without heads. These men had been executed for highway robbery and murder. They were accompanied by the quartered body of a Laplander’ who had slept with one of his relations.5 Further on Linnaeus tells us that ‘the people hereabouts talked much of mountains haunted by hobgoblins, particularly the hill called Svinberget’, situated between new and old Piteå.6 He added that the ‘discourse’ of the locals ‘ran on that useful sort of witchcraft by which a thief is put to his wit’s end and detected’.7


As Linnaeus’ account suggests, Piteå stood on a cultural and linguistic frontier which had, for centuries, been the realm of the Finno-Ugric speaking Lapps (Sami), semi-nomadic herders of reindeer supplementing their food through hunting and fishing. Daniel would come to know these people well, in the course of his father’s parish duties and through his own pioneering travels in Lapland. To some extent he appears to have identified with them. James Boswell recorded that he once heard Solander say he was a ‘Swedish Laplander’. A disbelieving Samuel Johnson had responded that Solander’s height and skin colour were inconsistent with such assertions and suggested to a puzzled Boswell that he must have meant ‘Laplander in a very extensive sense; or ... a voluntary degradation of himself: “For all my being the great man that you see me now, I was originally a barbarian”; as if Burke should say, “I came over a wild Irishman” ...’8


Johnson was right to cast doubt on any suggestion that Solander’s ethnicity was Lapp. In fact, the Solander family were relative newcomers to northern Sweden. Daniel’s paternal grandfather (1669–1738) had come to Piteå as vicar in 1715 with an appointment signed by Charles XII in Turkey. A year after his arrival he experienced personal ill-treatment at the hands of marauding cossacks—during a raid which was a precursor of the far more devastating Russian incursion of June 1721. Solander’s grandfather was born in Stigsjö, west of Härnösand in Ångermanland, the son of the local chaplain Daniel Solimontanus (1621–c. 1697) who later became pastor of Nordmaling (1670–97).9 He studied at Härnösand gymnasium, gained a Master’s degree from Uppsala in 1699 and married the daughter of the university’s Professor of Law. No portrait of him has survived, but one can assume a certain fraternal similarity with the image which has survived of his elder brother Martin (1666–1723), a bearded cleric with high forehead and long arched eyebrows.10 It was probably Martin, rather than Daniel, who first changed the family name from Solimontanus to Solander. But even Solimontanus had been a brief Latin patronym, for Martin’s and Daniel’s grandfather and great-grandfather had both gone by the locative name of Solberg in the previous century.11


Solberg is a hill which overlooks the church of Stigsjö gleaming white amid the pines and birch. The ancestors of the Solanders had lived on this hill from at least 1535, for they are recorded there in King Gustaf Vasa’s (1496–1560) census the Skattelängd. A few hundred metres east of the hill is Smöråker, the ‘butter acre’12—land purchased by Solimontanus during his chaplaincy and the birthplace of his sons. Here too the landscape has depth, and from this prospect Solimontanus contemplated other horizons and ventured further afield with his sons. Daniel Solander the elder, the future naturalist’s grandfather, became senior master, then headmaster, of Härnösand gymnasium before being appointed vicar of Piteå. His son Carl, our Daniel’s father, was born in 1699, studied in Härnösand and at Uppsala (where he gained his Master’s degree and was ordained in 1722). He joined his father in Piteå after being appointed deputy rector of the town’s school on 13 May 1730. An oil painting, believed to be of Carl, is now preserved in the Piteå Museum. It is a portrait of a confident man in middle age with perhaps a hint of reluctance, or amusement, at the bother of sitting for the artist. Carl, if it really is he, has a chin that betrays a degree of corpulence, a prominent nose above a fine, almost pencilled moustache and a flowing wig of dark curly hair suggestive of the seventeenth rather than the eighteenth century. Regardless of his old-fashioned coiffure and frontier isolation, Carl Solander was a man of progressive intellect who came to know several of the most important thinkers of the Swedish Enlightenment. In 1732 Carl Linnaeus made specific mention of receiving ‘kind entertainment from Mr Solander, the principal clergyman of the place’.13 This was a reference to Carl’s father, but it seems inconceivable that the whole Solander family did not meet the visiting botanist. Linnaeus tells us that ‘after a violent storm’ he also visited the new town of Piteå, where Carl’s school was located and where he ‘examined several gardens, in order to learn what plants are able to stand the severe winters of this inhospitable climate’.14 Carl Solander was also a correspondent of Eric Benzelius (1675–1743), the classical scholar, historian and brother-in-law of the great Emanuel Swedenborg (1688–1772).15 And as we shall see, he would play host to other visiting savants journeying north into Lapland in quest of scientific knowledge.


In November 1730, five months after gaining his appointment as deputy rector of the Piteå school, Carl Solander married Magdalena Bostadia (1713–89) the youngest daughter of Marcus Bostadius (1662–1728), Chief Justice of the province of Västerbotten for nearly twenty years.16 Magdalena grew up in Umeå about 180 kilometres south of Piteå on the coast. Her father had purchased land there in 1689 when he became Stadsnotarie (Town Notary) and had subsequently risen through the ranks of the provincial judiciary.17 It is not known how Carl Solander met his future wife, but Magdalena’s sister, Anna Christina Bostadia (1700–74), had married the magistrate (and later mayor) of Piteå, Anders Höijer (1694–1764) nine years before in Stockholm. Magdalena’s mother, Christina (née Sand), died shortly after Magdalena was born, and she became an orphan at 15 when her father died in 1728. Perhaps in going to live with her sister and brother-in-law in Piteå, she met and fell in love with the newly appointed deputy rector of the school, fourteen years her senior. Marriage may also have been a welcome escape for Magdalena from the Höijer household. The month before Carl Solander received his appointment in Piteå in 1730, Anders Höijer had become involved in a dispute over the still unresolved estate of his father-in-law Marcus. The correspondence, still preserved in the Härnösand archives, suggests Höijer was a pugnacious personality and for someone in blossoming womanhood he may not have been easy to live with.


The Piteå Museum possesses a portrait in oils believed to be of Magdalena Bostadia. Ironically, if there is any doubt about the identity of the subject of this portrait and its matching pair (the supposed painting of Carl Solander) it has been raised by a descendant of the Höijers who has suggested the two paintings might actually be of Anders Höijer and his wife Anna Christina Bostadia.18 Regardless of whether it is Daniel’s mother or aunt that we see portrayed with embroidered dress and bejewelled fingers and neck, the family resemblance is discernible. Mother and son, or aunt and nephew: the cheeks and chin, the eyes and brow, speak of common blood. If it is Magdalena, she is richly adorned for a simple cleric’s wife, but she came from a prosperous family and must have inherited a share of her mother’s jewellery—perhaps as a dowry. The painting, of course, tells us nothing of the adornments of the mind. Yet there is little doubt the Bostadius family was intellectually cultivated. In 1712 Magadalena’s brother Johannes Bostadius (died c. 1723), a graduate of Härnösand gymnasium like Carl Solander, had been designated a professor at Pärnu in Estonia by King Charles XII.19 Unfortunately for Johannes, his academic ambitions would crumble with the King’s imperial dreams and he was never able to take up his appointment. The reason for this is worth recounting, for it provides yet another illustration of how the disaster of the Great Northern War affected the lives and security of Daniel’s kin in the years immediately before his birth.


In 1699 the University of Dorpat (Tartu) had been relocated in Pärnu, but at the Battle of Poltava in 1709 the Swedish Army had been defeated by the Russians and there were no means of preventing the siege and capture of the town (and with it the university) the following year. Although Czar Peter I promised to keep the university open and under the terms of the capitulation of Livonia added a guarantee of professorial chairs, it was not re-established until 1802 in Tartu.20 It is also worth mentioning that the Album academicum for the University of Dorpat, for the period before the move to Pärnu, lists a number of graduates named Bostadius.21 Although no direct family connection can be established between these individuals and Daniel Solander’s maternal forebears, his uncle Johannes’ appointment suggests the Bostadius family may have had deeper Swedish-Estonian roots.


We do not know how early young Daniel developed a passion for natural history, but there seems little doubt that it must have been nurtured and encouraged by his parents. Carl Solander certainly had some interest in science, for in the year Daniel was born he carried out astronomical observations for the Kungliga Vetenskaps Societeten (Royal Society of Sciences) in Uppsala.22


The forests in the immediate vicinity of Piteå are a delicate mixture of birch, alder and pine with a dense mat-like understorey of lichen, fungi, moss, blueberry, heather and occasional surprises such as the ‘coral rooted orchid’ (Ophrys corallorrhiza) which Linnaeus recorded ‘had never fallen in my way before’.23 It is not hard to imagine young Daniel running along the paths which wound about the granite boulders and lakes of Piteå’s forests, stopping occasionally with a fascination for a new plant or insect—as children around the world have always done—but never losing that fascination. And aside from the forest, there was the aquatic life of the seashore and the Piteå river, together with the wildlife of the islands of the coastal archipelago, to stimulate a sensitive and enquiring child.


In June 1736, seven months after Daniel’s sister Anna Magdalena was born, the Solander family played host to members of Pierre Louis Moreau de Maupertuis’ (1698–1759) important geophysical expedition to Lapland. This French expedition sought to prove the Newtonian theory that the world was an oblate spheroid, by measuring the distance between a degree along a meridian in the polar regions. Maupertuis’ classic account of the expedition La figure de la terre (Amsterdam, 1738) does not tell us much of his visit to Piteå, but the published journal of the French priest Reginald Outhier, who accompanied the expedition as a naturalist, is more forthcoming. On 17 June 1736 Outhier recorded his first impression of Daniel Solander’s hometown:


We found a beautiful well-cultivated countryside, with two hamlets; in addition, there was some forest and roads, always on the sand, just up to the great river of Pitheå, which we passed by boat at 4.00 p.m. to arrive at Pitheå ... This was old Pitheå, which was a big village well clustered around the church, comprising a great number of houses spread out in a beautiful meadow on the edge of several lakes connected to the sea. New Piteå, or the town, is a mile away.24


One of the Swedish members of Maupertuis’ expedition was Anders Celsius (1701–44) whose name has been immortalized in association with the centigrade thermometer.25 Outhier tells us that he and his companion Clairaux ‘were obliged to go and search for M. Celsius, who had gone to sleep at the home of the pastor or curate of the parish, quite a distance from the inn’. This was clearly a reference to either Carl or Daniel Solander the elder. Not knowing which house belonged to the ‘curate’, Outhier and Clairaux ‘knocked on the door of a house which had the appearance of being that of a pastor’. In broken Swedish, Clairaux tried to make his search for Celsius known to the servant who answered. He and Outhier were startled at the appearance of the local magistrate (whose house it really was), quizzing them in fluent French on what they wanted. The magistrate (probably Mikael Höijer, a relative of Daniel’s uncle)26 guided them personally to the Solander home where they were able to collect Celsius in their carriage and depart the town. When Outhier returned the following year, he tells us that Celsius immediately wanted him and his other companions to come to the home of the curate. On their way they were surprised to encounter one of Maupertuis’ servants who informed them that his master’s ship had been badly battered in a storm in the gulf and, after desperate pumping, had just managed to reach the coast two miles from Piteå. Naturally the town became Maupertuis’ base as he reorganized his expedition.


In the meantime, Outhier delighted in watching the elder Solander’s parishioners attending their church from his vantage point in front of the wooden bridge which provided the only communication with the New Town of Piteå ‘very singularly located’ in occupying ‘all of a small island’. To amuse himself further, Outhier began preparing a detailed plan of the town with careful measurements made close to midnight when the no doubt suspicious inhabitants were in bed. In his description of the new town he makes specific mention of the school, of which Daniel’s father had become headmaster in 1735, as comprising with the Town Hall one face of a small square in the town centre. Young Daniel, if he had not already begun, would soon be attending this school under his father’s direction. When Maupertuis’ expedition departed Piteå on 18 June 1737, Daniel was 4 years and 3 months old, certainly old enough to retain personal memories of the visit of the great men of science and philosophy who filled its ranks. These memories, reinforced by the reminiscences of his parents, may have become yet another source of inspiration for Daniel to follow a career in one of the sciences, rather than in the church as his father and grandfather had done. Maupertuis’ expedition also provided him with an example of the search for knowledge beyond the confines of the printed page. Years later, he too would join an expedition which had the primary objective of astronomical observation in a far-flung corner of the globe.


Daniel seems to have grown up in the two-storey timber family home called ‘Björklunda’ (Birchgrove) which had been built, after the Russian depredations, by an assistant vicar from Jämtland named Telaus. The house, which remains substantially intact, has many similarities with the domestic architecture of Jämtland and central Sweden: seven steps lead up to the front door bordered by symmetrical pilasters supporting simple capitals; there are four rooms on the ground floor and four rooms upstairs. Although it was purchased by Daniel Solander the elder from Telaus, he appears to have continued living with his family at Kyrkobordet. We do not know exactly when Carl Solander and his family moved in, but the house seems to have remained in the possession of his family for over sixty years. It was perhaps at Björklunda that Daniel’s sibling, Carl Bernhard, was born and died in the space of nine and a half weeks in 1739. The year before, on 11 October 1738, Daniel’s grandfather, who had spent his life preparing his flock for the challenge of infinity and divine judgement, was himself ushered into the possibilities of eternity at the age of sixty-nine. His tombstone, after long use as a porch-step on a local farm, has only recently been reinstated in the church at Öjebyn; but one must crane one’s neck behind the organ to find it. Within two years of his father’s death, Carl Solander was appointed his successor as vicar. Aside from his earlier representation of the clerical estate in the Swedish Riksdag in 1734 and 1738, Carl is remembered in Swedish ecclesiastical history as the builder of his parish church’s transepts from 1750 onwards. The old medieval long church had become inadequate for the growing parish population and Carl’s solution was to make the building cruciform.27


By royal decree, students in isolated regions like Piteå were not required to graduate from the gymnasium before attending university. This suggests that Daniel owed a great intellectual debt to his family. His parents’ library and those of his other immediate relatives and family friends must have been vital sources of wisdom. And in the long northern Swedish winters there were other civilizing influences by lamplight and by Björklunda’s wood fires. The recently discovered notebook of his aunt, Gertrud Sophia Solander, suggests that Daniel was exposed to the operatic works of Georg Friedrich Händel, Attilio Ariosti and the Swede Johan Helmich Roman—all of whom had been associated with London’s Royal Academy in the earlier part of the century.28 Daniel’s father’s secular musical tastes are not known, but local tradition has it that his favourite hymn was Martin Luther’s ‘A Mighty Fortress is Our God’ inspired by Psalm 46.29 Throughout his travels, it is hard to imagine that Daniel did not carry special memories of the warm security of ‘Björklunda’ or the rousing strains of that hymn echoing family certainties beneath the grand ribbed domes and intersecting arches of the church at Öjebyn:


A mighty fortress is our God


A trusty shield and weapon


Our faithful helper in all need


Our stay what e’re may happen.




2


[image: Images]


Uppsala


Sweden appeared to me the country in the world most proper to form the botanist and natural historian; every object seemed to remind me of the creation of things, of the first efforts of sportive nature.


Mary Wollstonecraft, Letters Written During a Short Residence in Sweden, Norway and Denmark, 1796


Uppsala, Sweden’s oldest university, was established in 1477. An eighteenth-century English traveller, William Coxe (1747–1828), found it in ‘an open plain fertile in grain and pasture ... a small, but very neat town, containing, exclusive of students, about 3000 inhabitants’.1 Daniel Solander began his formal tertiary studies in this ordered, garden-filled commune, on 18 July 1750,2 but he almost certainly arrived in Uppsala the year before or perhaps even earlier. We know this because he befriended Johan Gustaf Hallman (1726–97), a physician from Strängnäs, who departed Uppsala in 1749 at the behest of the Swedish National Board of Trade to gain knowledge of mulberry trees. During his sojourn abroad, Hallman also studied medicine at the University of Padua and Solander wrote to him there on 4 February 1753. The letter is important because in it he honours Hallman with the declaration: ‘I can almost say that Herr Doctor was the one who first inspired my observing and loving of the miracles of nature’. This was not a casual aside, for he reiterated: ‘Herr Doctor is the one who first gave me an inclination towards, and a desire for, scrutinizing the treasures of nature’.3 Solander appears to have met Hallman at the home of his paternal uncle, also named Daniel Solander (1707–85), who had been Professor of Swedish and Roman Law at Uppsala since 17404 and had also served as rector of the University between 1746 and 1747.


Professor Solander, his wife Anna, and their three young children lived at No. 3 Klostret5 on the northern side of the River Fyris. The street took its name from a now completely obliterated mediaeval Franciscan cloister; and the original No. 3 bears a plaque, dated 1788, mistakenly commemorating its location.6 With three storeys, attic, garden and expansive ancient cellars, the building (now owned by the Kungl. Gustav Adolfs Akademien) is much changed since the middle of the eighteenth century, but one can write with conviction that the home in which Daniel lodged for about a decade was relatively comfortable and spacious. It was also one of the few buildings in Uppsala, either private or public, which was not built of timber. As William Coxe noted forty years later: ‘the generality are constructed with trunks, smoothed into the shape of planks, and painted red, and the roofs are covered with turf’.7 Professor Solander needed a spacious home for he possessed a large private library rich in legal texts and works of jurisprudence, but also many Latin, German, Swedish and French theological, philosophical and literary volumes, together with important scientific and mathematical treatises by Maupertuis, Celsius, Watts, Pingré, Gravesand, D’Alembert, Voltaire, Linnaeus and Artedi. Some dated from the sixteenth century.8 For a young man with a thirst for learning who had only known Piteå’s limited garden of the mind, Professor Solander’s library must have seemed a veritable paradise. But this private collection was really only one tantalizing bough in the rich Eden of Uppsala. Unlike Oxford and the Sorbonne, which were stagnant with conservatism and scholastic antagonism to the natural sciences, Uppsala had become one of Europe’s great intellectual centres. Although it had its share of clerical and political interference, like the new German universities of Halle and Göttingen it was on the cutting edge of scientific thought and largely in harmony with the scientific ambitions of the Enlightenment and Sweden’s Age of Liberty.


Five months before Daniel began his formal studies in Uppsala, the university had established two new chairs: Experimental Physics and Chemistry. In the previous decade several new institutes had been created and others revitalized. Anders Celsius, whom Daniel had met as a child, had erected an observatory at Svartbäcken before his creative life came to a premature end in 1744. And Daniel would soon witness Johan Gottschalk Wallerius’ establishment of the university’s first chemical laboratory and Carl Hårleman’s erection of a new university Senate building (1749–55) and reconstruction of the Gustavianum and its lecture theatres. (Hårleman endowed the university with four new rococo lecterns including one—embellished with the scales of justice—first used by Daniel’s uncle as Professor of Law.)9


Daniel’s initial studies were in ‘languages and humanities’.10 He also attended his uncle’s law lectures, perhaps before the summer of 1750. Four volumes of these lectures are still preserved in the Royal Library’s manuscript collection in Stockholm. They are dense Latin-filled works dutifully recorded by a succession of the professor’s students. One of these scribes boldly placed his name on a title page (beneath his master’s), no doubt believing he deserved editorial recognition for making sense of long rambling addresses; his name was blotted out with a great splash of ink—very likely Professor Solander’s response to such insolence!11 How quickly Daniel tired of his uncle’s lectures and abandoned ambitions in the law or the church is uncertain. What is certain is that he soon came under the spell of the man who would have the most profound influence on his life: Carl Linnaeus. This may have been through Hallman who had defended a dissertation on Passiflora under Linnaeus’ presidency in 1745.


Of medium height with a large head and penetrating brown eyes, Linnaeus was muscular in build, brisk in gait and notoriously shabby in dress. Born in Råshult, Småland, in 1707 and educated at Växjö gymnasium and the medical faculties of Lund and Uppsala, Linnaeus cultivated a strong interest in natural history and especially botany from an early age. He pursued these interests during his famous Lapland journey which in 1732 brought him into contact with Solander’s family in Piteå. In 1735 he journeyed to Holland where he gained his doctorate from the accommodating University of Harderwijk12 with a hastily printed thesis on intermittent fevers. It was in the Netherlands, in 1735, that he published the first edition of his landmark Systema Naturae which laid the foundations for his sexual system of plant classification.


Building on Sébastien Vaillant’s (1669–1722) exposition of the sexual function of the stamens and pistil, Linnaeus’ system involved the division of the plant kingdom into 23 ‘classes’ according to the number, proportions and location of the stamens (male organs) in the flower and a 24th class, the Cryptogamia, for flowerless plants such as mosses, with further subdivision in ‘orders’ according to the number of stigmas (female organs). Linnaeus further divided plants on generic lines; that is, he distinguished groups of species possessing similar flowers and fruits from others. Finally, with an additional diagnostic name, derived from a constant distinguishing characteristic, he differentiated individual species within a genus and thereby refined the binomial nomenclature of the Swiss physician and botanist Caspar Bauhin (1560–1624).


After returning to Sweden and practising as a physician in Stockholm, Linnaeus undertook a government-sponsored survey of the Baltic islands of Öland and Gotland and then filled one of the two chairs of medicine at Uppsala in 1741.13 While Nils Rosén von Rosenstein (1706–73) supervised practical medicine, physiology and anatomy (and shook the university’s hospital from its slumbers to found a major centre of clinical research),14 Linnaeus assumed supervision of botany, materia medica and the restoration of Uppsala’s Botanical Garden. But with confidence, simplicity, good humour and missionary zeal, he would make a contribution to science—far beyond the confines of Uppsala—through his simple system of classification. As Sten Lindroth, Sweden’s foremost historian of science, succinctly put it:


Linné’s disposition was highly scholastic, he had a rare talent for logic and order; this is witnessed particularly by the brilliantly simplified construction of his classification system, as well as the tremendous importance he attributed to the right professional term, the correct description ... His brilliant powers of observation led to discoveries in various fields which were later to reveal even deeper content. As a systematic botanist, Linné passed on a whole science in completely different condition from that in which he received it. Finally, and well worthy of consideration, Linné grew together with his nation as perhaps no other of the great scientists. He has become one of the indispensable figures in the history of his country’s spiritual cultivation.15


According to Linnaeus, it was he who ‘obtained’ Carl Solander’s consent that Daniel ‘should study Botany’. He added that he had ‘cherished him as a son’ under his own roof.16 On this point Solander himself noted in March 1757 that ‘I do not live permanently in Herr Archiater [Chief Physician] Linnaeus’ house, yet I stay there daily such that I almost spend more time there than at home in my proper accommodation ... with my uncle Prof. Solander’.17


Like Daniel’s uncle, Linnaeus lectured formally for an hour each day, but his students responded most warmly to his intimate style of practical demonstration. Every Saturday in summer he would lead botanical walks on the outskirts of Uppsala.18 The Danish entomologist Johan Christian Fabricius (1745–1808), who would become a close personal friend of Solander, has left us an endearing personal account of his studies under Linnaeus:


This was the most important period of my life ... I always look back to that period with great delight and warm feelings of gratitude towards my great master, Linnaeus, who was to us like a father, and it was quite natural from the high regard which we had for his merits and the great freedom and unreservedness which he permitted in our intercourse with him, that our young hearts should be warmly and fervently attached to him. We saw and heard him only. In winter we lived in town close by him, and in the summer we followed him into the country that we might the more freely enjoy the benefit of his instruction and intercourse.... Linnaeus in his lectures understood the art of encouraging youth in the study of science, and in his intercourse and conversation he was inexhaustible in all kinds of anecdotes and observations. He visited us daily both in the country and in town, and enriched our minds during several hours of instruction, which was to him a recreation while speaking to us on his favourite science, botany. He properly laid the foundation of our knowledge, and imprinted on our minds the systematic order with which the study of the sciences ought to be pursued, and the accuracy of expression which so peculiarly distinguishes the Linnean school.19


Within two years Solander had sufficiently impressed Linnaeus to accompany him, in the summer of 1752, to Drottningholm, the Swedish royal family’s country residence on the island of Lovö in Lake Mälaren, west of Stockholm. In his letter to Johan Gustaf Hallman, Solander tells us ‘I was allowed to be present when he [Linnaeus] put Her Majesty’s extensive Cabinet in order’.20 This is a reference to the natural history collection of Lovisa Ulrika (1720–82), sister of Frederick the Great of Prussia, who had become Queen of Sweden the year before. Lovisa Ulrika and her husband King Adolf Fredrik (1710–71) were ardent collectors of natural history objects and important patrons of Linnaeus. But this was only the first of Solander’s encounters with the refined life of the court. After attending a wedding in Strömsberg some 60 kilometres north of Uppsala in early 1753, Solander accompanied his teacher to yet another royal palace, Ulriksdal, where he tells us Linnaeus ‘described and arranged His Majesty’s beautiful collections, consisting mostly of snakes, birds and fish’. Earlier, during the ‘Christmas holidays’, he had also accompanied Linnaeus to Stockholm, where he ‘was given the opportunity to go through Count Tessin’s considerable Cabinet, consisting of an unbelievable collection of gastropods, stones and corals’. This Count Tessin was Carl Gustaf Tessin (1695–1770), State Chancery President and founder of the anti-Russian, pro-French parliamentary faction known as the ‘Hats’. (Tessin’s opponents were dubbed the ‘Caps’.) Although there is no conclusive evidence that Solander met Tessin or the Swedish royal family while in Linnaeus’ company, he most certainly had a unique experience for a young student from the wilds of Piteå. And given the ample evidence of his social poise in the company of the British aristocracy and royal family in the following decades, it is hard to believe these experiences were not important exercises in etiquette for him. Linnaeus would produce three published catalogues of the collections at Drottningholm, Ulriksdal and Count Tessin’s home: Museum Tessinianium (1753), Museum ... Adolphi Friderici (1754) and Museum ... Ludovicae Ulricae Reginae (1764). Solander appears to have acted as Linnaeus’ secretary during the ordering of these collections and, in the opinion of the Swedish scholar Robert E. Fries, to have indexed them.21


Solander impressed Linnaeus so much that the Archiater began telling others of the abilities of his brilliant young student. From Madrid, in May 1753, Solander received a letter from Pehr Löfling (1729–56), waiting to embark on a scientific expedition to South America. ‘From my innermost heart’, wrote Löfling, ‘I congratulate you for the great knowledge you have now acquired in Botany, such that Herr Linnaeus has counted you as his best swain in the subject’. Löfling had obviously considered Solander a sincere friend from his student days in Uppsala, but the apparent seriousness of his professional botanical endeavours now came as a surprise—almost as if he had considered Solander a mere dilettante in the past. Thus he wrote, ‘Concerning information on plants to you, you may be assured that from now on I will never fail to communicate to you everything I may achieve. I had never before known that you were a botanist’. Löfling added,


When I hear that you have become such a devoted Botanicus I give myself [a guilty?] conscience not having sent to you, particularly since my pleasure is to do some good with the collection ... in times past we have been good comrades although in a different field, you know well in which.22


Was Löfling alluding to less serious extracurricular activities, such as student carousing?


In 1753, the year Linnaeus published the first volume of his Species Plantarum—internationally recognized as the beginning of modern plant taxonomy—Solander took his first steps as a botanical field researcher and explorer. Even in far-off Spain, Löfling had become aware, through Linnaeus, that Solander planned to ‘go up to Pitheå Lappmark’. Details of Solander’s route are very sketchy and further confused by Johann Reinhold Forster’s ill-founded assertion that after his studies in Uppsala ‘he went to Archangel via Lapland and from there to St Petersburg’.23 In the introduction to the 10th edition of the Systema Naturae, Linnaeus makes mention of him as one of his contributors having travelled ‘in Lapponiam, Pitsem, and Tornensen 1753’. In the State Natural History Museum in Stockholm are several other clues to Solander’s route. Aside from a specimen of Juncus trifidus with the annotation ‘alp. Pit.’ there is a Gentiana aurea, inscribed on the back in Solander’s hand ‘collected near Rörstad’s parsonage in Norway; on a dry pasture’ and a specimen of Phleum alpinum marked ‘Tornoa super’. These three specimens indicate that from Piteå Solander reached Rørstad on the Atlantic, returning or proceeding via Övertorneå on the Finnish border, presumably having followed the Torne valley. The other vital clue to Solander’s route comes from mortality and disease statistics he provided his close friend Peter Jonas Bergius for his work Försök til de uti Swerige Gångbara Sjukdomars Utrönande, för år 1754 [An Attempt at Ascertaining the diseases current in Sweden in the year 1754]. Bergius’ book, published in Stockholm in 1755, contains figures for 1754 from the parishes of Arjeplog and Arvidsjaur located on Lake Hornavan, the deepest lake in Sweden. The reader is told by Bergius: ‘This information I have got from Med. Stud. Dan. Solander who has recently with praiseworthy diligence at his own expense journeyed across these and other nomadic Laplander territories’.24 At some stage on this route from, or to, the hamlet of Arjeplog, Solander probably also passed through the Junkerdal—the rugged pass which gives access to the Norwegian coast. There was much to interest him there, for the Junkerdal is a unique preserve of both Arctic and temperate plant genera such as Mezereon and even Cyclamen found nowhere else at such latitudes and altitudes. In the Saltfjell mountains he would have encountered reindeer, lynx, marten, otter, fox, beaver and majestic birds such as the sea eagle and the golden eagle. Rørstad does not appear to have been a chance destination. Two decades earlier, Linnaeus had also visited Rørstad during his Lapland journey. The pastor then was Johan Rasch, a native of the Danish island of Lolland who had come to Rørstad in 1715, after serving as a missionary in Ghana and the West Indies, and who ‘never expected to see an honest Swede’. Linnaeus was very impressed that Rasch had published an account of his travels with interesting descriptions of fishes and plants; he was also very attracted to Rasch’s ‘uncommonly beautiful’ eighteen-year old daughter, Sarah!25 At the time of Solander’s visit, the pastor was Rasch’s son, Johan Georg Rasch (c. 1715–57)—a stern man known as ‘Herr Jan’ to his parishioners, who is remembered for the heavy financial demands he made and for his tendency to ‘hit and strike when he was in the mood’.26 It seems likely Linnaeus gave Solander either specific instructions to visit Rørstad or, at the very least, a letter of introduction to the Rasch family. Solander must also have visited his own family during the summer of 1753. Piteå was certainly a convenient base for his journey.


He made a number of other visits to his home town during his studies. We know this because he also provided Peter Bergius with statistics for Piteå and because his name appears as a witness to several baptisms recorded in the local parish register. These were on three occasions between mid-March and early April 1754 and on another occasion in January 1756. Each time he was described in Latin as a student and often more specifically as a student of medicine and botany.


We know Solander undertook another botanical expedition to Lapland in the summer of 1755 because yet another of his specimens, a Vaccinium, has been preserved in Stockholm. It bears the inscription ‘Abesku litus ad lacus Tornense in Paroecia Juckarjefui Lapponiae Tornensis, D. C. Solander, 1755’, from which we can safely assume he reached Abisko on the shores of Lake Torneträsk and passed through the parish of Jukkasjärvi. The charming wooden church of Jukkasjärvi still contains relics of several earlier expeditions to Lapland. It is hard to imagine that Solander did not read and reflect on the wooden plaque (probably the stern of a Lapp sledge) inscribed in Latin in August 1681 by the French explorer Jean-François Regnard (1655–1709)27 and his two companions. Seventy-five years before Solander, they had reached the eastern tip of Torneträsk and thought it was the Arctic Ocean:


Raised in Gaul, we have seen Africa,


Tasted of the holy waters of the Ganges


And travelled our own Europe;


So driven by fate and travelling by land and sea


We finally stood here at the pole where the world ends.


In 1718 another Frenchman, Aubry de la Motraye, brazed a Latin verse into half a barrel lid during his visit:


The North Pole I have finally observed.


Lapland has shown me the never setting sun.


Food and drink from the meat and milk of reindeer


I have been offered


As in the past the Tartars gave me the milk of mares to drink


If Solander felt inclined to leave a similar memorial of his visit, it has not been preserved. He published no account of his travels in Lapland other than references to cases of skin disease caused by parasitical insect infestations in Piteå, Jukkasjärvi and on the Torneå River in his paper ‘Furia infernalis’ more than twenty years later. His route was clearly dictated by the physical and cultural dictates of the landscape. Ancient Lapp reindeer herding trails wove their way through the folded sedimentary mountains and skirted rivers which are either dammed by glacial morains to form long finger lakes or flow freely to gouge deep valleys. Solander followed these rivers and, it would seem, sought out isolated vicarages to introduce himself as Piteå’s minister’s son and trust in the hospitality of his Lutheran brethren. In this he was like any other European seeking out his compatriots in far flung colonial outposts. The Lapps had at times suffered excesses as brutal as those experienced by the Andean Indians at the hands of the Spanish. Forcibly converted to Christianity, their shamans were sometimes burnt at the stake and their labour was ruthlessly exploited to transport iron ore by reindeer to coastal blast furnaces. Solander travelled through their nomadic territory at a time of cultural dislocation and the breakdown of their traditional barter economy. Yet like Aubry de la Motraye, he must have lived off ‘the meat and milk of reindeer’ and adopted other traditional Lapp ways simply to survive. Although he probably travelled in summer, he nevertheless had to brave the seasonal swarms of mosquitoes, gnats and gadflies (which have to be seen to be believed!); the wild cataracts and tortuous knee-deep quagmires fed by vast snow-melts; and the upland storms which, even in the warmest months in Lapland, can leave a traveller battered and bewildered in search of the few existing pathways. Did he fill his boots with fine sedge picked as some Lapps still do to keep their feet warm and dry in the wettest conditions? Such journeys in the deep silence of the north, broken only by the sound of the wind and Lapp encampments, were not for the faint-hearted, but they ushered Solander into a romantic tradition of Lapland travel and scholarship which had begun in the sixteenth century with Olaus Magnus, and had been taken up again in the seventeenth century by the Alsatian Johannes Scheffer and in the eighteenth century by his own teacher.


Unlike Linnaeus, who left a rich journal of his Lapland wanderings—including many drawings of plants, animals and people—Solander’s silence is as deep as the silence of Lapland. Ironically, instead of sharing the experience of his northern wanderings through the printed word, on his return Solander published a pamphlet summarizing the Linnean botanical method! Entitled Caroli Linnaei Elementa Botanica, it was very precisely dated 5 May 1756. He spent Christmas of the same year with Linnaeus’ family in Falun and then travelled to Stockholm ‘in order to see and describe some fish which had recently come to Her Royal Majesty and to the Royal Academy of Sciences’.28


Throughout these years he had also begun building a substantial herbarium. In 1908 Carl Lindman (1856–1928) wrote of these specimens, now preserved in the State Natural History Museum and long attributed to Solander, that they are large in number, well preserved and ‘are to be found pasted on very thin but tough and firm paper’. In addition to the quality of the paper, Lindman noted, all these plants are


easily recognizable through the fact that the name of the genus is written in small elegant capitals on the margins at the top and the name of the species in the margin at the bottom, both on the front side; on the back is written in an even free and beautiful hand the diagnosis and number etc. in the Species plantarum ed. 1 ... It is beyond doubt that Solander worked under Linnaeus’s immediate direction and so collected a fine herbarium; and indeed a very large number of these plants are marked ‘Hort. Ups.’ or ‘Hort’. It is probable that Solander also assisted Linnaeus with his labelling, which seems to be shewn by the fact that a number of plants now in question (in Solander’s handwriting) also have sign of Linnaeus’s ...29


In addition to the specimens he collected personally in Lapland or in the Uppsala Botanical Garden, Solander obtained plants from friends and colleagues abroad. Some of the herbarium sheets bear the handwriting of Pehr Löfling and suggest that he kept the promise he made in Spain to send specimens to Solander. Others are incribed by Pehr Osbeck (1723–1805) who made a voyage to China and back as a chaplain with the Swedish East India Company (1750–52) and was enjoined by Linnaeus to return with the ‘choicest’ botanical spoils or be hurled ‘into the depths of the Taenarum’ with Neptune’s aid! In 1758 Linnaeus acquired a herbarium of over 1000 rare plants collected by the Irish physician Patrick Browne (1720–90) in Jamaica.30 Solander appears to have been given some of these plants by Linnaeus. Thus Lindman wrote that ‘Solander’s intimate relation to Linné is still further confirmed by t[h]e fact that a very large number of these (Solander’s) plants have the inscription “Jamaica, Patr. Browne” or merely “Jamaica”’.31


We have some further notion of the remarkable scope of Solander’s ‘Cabinet of Natural History’ from the catalogue of the auction arranged by members of his family in 1787. It contained thirty drawers of shells and what appears to have been plant fossils (described as ‘petrified herb tree species and mosses’); a large herbarium of about 7500 ‘rarer’ plants; seventeen boxes of insects, butterflies, dried snakes, small crocodiles, exotic animal skulls and materia medica; and 2000 mineral specimens from Sweden and abroad. In addition, the cabinets housing the collection were declared to be ‘in good condition, provided with drawers and keys’.32


Just as Solander built up a rich personal herbarium and natural history cabinet, he took pains to amass a significant professional library of some one hundred volumes. This library contained some of the classic scientific works published over the previous century—the foundations upon which Linnaeus had built his Systema Naturae and his Species Plantarum. Aside from the works of his great teacher (including the magnificent Hortus Cliffortianus), Solander owned tomes by Bauhin, Burckhard, Burman, Boerhaave, De Geer, Dillenius, Gronovius, von Haller, Michaels, Plukenet, Plumier, Ray, Scheuchzer, Schacht and Tournefort. In a number of instances he owned, not just one, but several works by these authors. Solander, for example, possessed a 1623 edition of Caspar Bauhin’s Pinax theatri botanici and a 1671 edition of his De plantis supra sexcenta. He owned the six volumes of Plukenet’s Opera omnia botanica in folio as well as his Phytographia.33 The breadth and richness of Solander’s library is surprising (as is his natural history collection) for a young and unknown student.34 With spacious lodging at his uncle’s (vital for someone with such eclectic passions!) and the additional generous hospitality of the Linnaeus family, he probably had fewer expenses than many other students, but he nevertheless hailed from a family of relatively modest circumstances. Despite his limited means, he assiduously sought to expand both his natural history cabinet and his library. Thus after reluctantly sending Hallman Dryas35 and Sibbaldia out of his own herbarium, he requested specimens of ‘Cryptogamic’36 arbores and water-plants, and pleaded ‘do not misunderstand this boldness of mine that I so daringly advocate my interests. Herr Doctor knows what a hungry stomach craves for. Therefore be merciful and kind-hearted and increase my collections which I count as my greatest wealth’. And after seeing the work of the Austrian-born engraver and naturalist, August Johann Roesel von Rosenhof (1705–59), Der monatlich-herausgegebenen Insecten-Belüstigung, which had been consulted by the Queen at Ulriksdal, he requested Hallman to attempt ‘to get it cheaply at an auction’.37


Solander also appears to have exchanged plants with Erik Gustaf Lidbeck (1724–1803), Professor of Natural History in Lund and author of the botanical work Tal om skånska plantagerna (1755). While some of these plants appear to have been collected by Solander in Lapland, others were not so honestly acquired. Lidbeck was establishing a botanical garden in Lund, so he did not want just dried and pressed specimens. Unfortunately Linnaeus zealously guarded his living treasures and their seeds! In a letter to Lidbeck dated 25 March 1757, there is clear evidence of a frustrated conspiracy to obtain seeds and plants behind Linnaeus’ back. Thus Solander wrote that,


Herr Archiater himself has the key to the seed cupboard; thus it is not going to be opened until sowing time; in addition, it is not certain whether an opportunity would then present itself to obtain any seeds. Hence it may please Herr Professor to understand how the very impossibility prevents me from being able to serve Herr Professor as desired. This is also the case with regard to the procurement of the succulent herbs.38


Peter Bergius had written to Lidbeck eight months before and reported Solander’s complaints with regard to this apparently long running plot: ‘Solander wails about having difficulties in obtaining ... succulenta from Uppsala only because little Linnaeus, who will defend his thesis about Horologium Plantarum, is permanently in Horto. Yet he promises to make an effort ...,’39 Given the diversity of living botanical treasures at the Botanical Gardens in Uppsala and the position of trust Solander enjoyed, one cannot help but wonder whether he made other such clandestine exchanges and transactions.


When Solander first came to Uppsala, Linnaeus’ eldest daughter Elisabeth Christina (1743–82) was only a child, but towards the end of his studies she had blossomed into womanhood. Lisa Stina, as she was affectionately known, had brown eyes and dark blonde hair. She was not, like her youngest sibling Sophia, considered a beauty, but she had a keen mind and maintained a genuine interest in both her father’s and Solander’s botanical passions. In 1762, in the Transactions of the Royal Academy of Science, she would publish a paper on the supposed luminescence of nasturtium (Tropaeolum) leaves. The ‘phenomenon’ she observed, which later attracted the attention of the poet Goethe, has since been dismissed as an optical illusion, but Lisa Stina’s preparedness to publish her speculations was unusual for a Swedish woman of her time. Fabricius considered Linnaeus’ daughters ‘all good tempered girls, but wholly unsophisticated children of nature, without the accomplishments that better education might have given them’.40 Four matching pastel portraits of them by Sven Niklas Höök (1731–87), show them identically coiffed, bejewelled and dressed in the same silk dress. Whether or not Lisa Stina lacked sophistication and polish, Solander appears to have seen her as a soul mate and future wife. There are few hints to the intensity of his feelings prior to 1768, but she was often singled out in his letters for special greetings as his ‘mamselle Lisa Stina’.


In 1758 Linnaeus purchased a farm named Hammarby, 15 kilometres south-east of Uppsala on the southern slopes facing the Sävja River, as a vacation retreat. The principal farm building (1762) which now attracts tourists from around the world, post-dates Solander’s residence in Sweden, but the seventeenth-century western wing would almost certainly have been familiar to him. Perhaps in the summer of 1758 or during his last Christmas in Sweden, among the woods and fields of Hammarby, came a recognition of feelings for Lisa Stina which had grown slowly in his heart over the past few years.


On the basis of surviving notes taken during the lectures of Johan Gottschalk Wallerius (1709–85) Professor of Chemistry at Uppsala, the Swedish Linnean scholar Arvid Uggla has suggested that Solander also acted as something of a tutor to Lisa Stina’s elder brother Carl. According to Uggla, an excercise book, now held by the Linnean Society of London, suggests Solander and Carl Linnaeus the Younger may have attended Wallerius’ lectures together, but that ‘the more advanced Solander’ may have continued the notes. Ironically, despite his obvious abilities and closeness to his teacher’s family, Solander does not appear on the list of those who defended doctoral dissertations under Linnaeus’ presidency.41 There is every reason to believe he intended to complete his studies under Linnaeus, but his departure from Uppsala for England in the spring of 1759 ultimately made this impossible. Given the publication, albeit in 1777, of his paper ‘Furia infernalis’ in the Acta Regiae Societatis Scientiarum Upsaliensis, largely based on his studies of the 1750s, it is possible that Solander’s doctoral dissertation would have dealt with the insect origins of skin diseases such as scabies.42 (Linnaeus also used the term ‘Furia infernalis’ in relation to inflammation probably caused by horsefly bites.)


There is no doubt Solander intended his visit to England to be temporary. Had he known he would never return, it is unlikely he would have left his impressive library, herbarium and natural history cabinet, let alone his beloved Lisa Stina.
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The Apostle Sets Out


I have cherished thee as my son


And ordained thee to spread the faith


Guru Gobind Singh, Vichitar Natak, c. 1692


Solander’s decision to visit England was in response to requests made of Linnaeus by a number of English naturalists, notably Peter Collinson (1694–1768) and John Ellis (c. 1705–76), to send someone capable of giving instruction in Linnean principles. He was neither the first nor the last of Linnaeus’ ‘apostles’ dispatched abroad. Although international acceptance of his method of classification was a major aspiration, Linnaeus also sought to secure specimens from every possible corner of the globe. As Nature’s obsessive cataloguer, he would eventually dispatch more than a dozen of his students, besides Solander, to collect specimens abroad. And in this quest to uncover God’s secrets and assemble an inventory of creation, five of the finest young minds he had nurtured would fall victim to disease and pestilence in South America, Indo-China, Turkey, Central Asia and Yemen. Among them were Pehr Forsskål (1736–68) and Pehr Löfling. Linnaeus could rely on the Swedish East India Company to transport his young disciples to the Cape of Good Hope and Asia beyond, but the great colonial powers held forth the prospect of other tantalizing horizons through their lines of trade and communication and perhaps even through voyages of exploration. Löffling, for example, had reached South America after an invitation to Spain from the Spanish king. Linnaeus had himself visited Britain in 1736 and perhaps realized that even if Solander did not venture beyond London, the city was a natural entrepôt for specimens and seeds collected abroad. There would be other benefits in sending an intelligent and observant young Swede to England. Solander, it appears, also intended to study the enclosure movement and other developments in British agriculture; thus Linnaeus reported to Gref Carl Gustaf Tessin of Solander’s plan,


to go to England in order to see its gardens and plantations of American trees; to see how they apply natural history on a large scale to economy with hedges etc; to go through their collections of natural history and particularly the collection of the great [Sir Hans] Sloane ... Through him I hope to learn what I do not yet know, and to get to the garden what is wanting ...1


Solander’s agenda seemed useful enough to the authorities for him to retain his Stipendium regium (Royal stipend)—apparently administered by Linnaeus—and, before he left Sweden, for him to be granted the Stipendium piperianum (Piper stipend) by the father of Gref Carl Frederic Piper (1700–70), President of the Kammarkollegium and a well-known patron of science. As we shall see, in an apparent quid pro quo, he would later be plunged into the world of industrial espionage on behalf of Swedish manufacturing interests.


How early Solander began learning English is not clear. In his letter to Linnaeus of 24 October 1758 John Ellis had strongly counselled Solander to start studying the language, but he may already have had some grounding. It is significant that Solander’s uncle’s fine library contained several English dictionaries and works by English authors such as Locke, Hobbes, Pope, Swift, Wotton, Smith, Watts and Wakely. On 5 March 1759 Linnaeus provided Solander with a testimonial which stated that he had ‘made greater progress in Natural History, even applied to economics, than anyone else’ he knew of. This reference in hand, Solander departed for southern Sweden, with the intention of taking ship quickly for England. Travelling non-stop from Stockholm, with the exception of one night at the home of the parents of fellow naturalist Jonas Theodor Fagraeus (1729–97) at Vittaryd in Småland, he reached the gently undulating province of Skåne after five days on the road. Here he lodged with his first cousin Sofia Elisabet Burmarck (1716–1802), the blonde, blue-eyed daughter of his maternal aunt Elsa Bostadius. Sofia’s husband, Matthias Paterssen (1706–78), was the round-faced Vicar of Wästra Carleby. Skåne was Danish territory until the Peace of Roskilde in 1658 and since Solander’s time the Danish place names have undergone considerable revision. The village Solander knew as Wästra Carleby is now known as Västra Karaby.


Europe was then embroiled in the Seven Years War. This conflict, which began in 1756, centred on the colonial rivalry of Britain and France, but also the continental rivalries of Prussia with Austria, France, Saxony, Russia and Sweden. Coveting Prussian Pomerania, Sweden, under the influence of the pro-French ‘Hat’ faction of Gref Tessin, had opportunistically attacked Prussia, when she faced war on several other fronts. Ultimately the succession of Czar Peter III, and his separate peace with Prussia, made Sweden’s position untenable and she agreed to a cessation of hostilities, but this was some time off. Solander’s letters of the period contain many references to the conflict, including mention of the arrival of Prussian prisoners in Skåne. Fortunately for Solander, despite Britain’s alliance with Prussia, Sweden was not at war with Britain. Nevertheless, travel between the two countries was no simple matter because of the risks posed to British shipping by French privateers. Thus Solander expected to sail to England in a protected convoy. When he received word from Helsingör in Denmark that such a convoy would not sail for a couple of weeks, he decided to amuse himself by travelling around Skåne. As spring took hold of the land, Sofia and Matthias Patersson accompanied him to the beautiful city of Lund with its ancient Romanesque cathedral, to Malmö with its imposing Renaissance castle and medieval brick Church and to Landscrona with its fortified citadel. But while on an excursion to the coal mine at Höganäs, he was taken ill at the home of Magnus Prytz (1711–73), Rector of Halmstad and Sireköpinge. With his head throbbing, he managed to return the following day to his cousin’s home and attempted to treat himself with an emetic prepared from the root of the South American Uragoga ipecacuanha plant. His appetite faded and within two days he was bedridden. Solander’s worried relatives then called a physician in Landscrona who prescribed alternative medication, yet throughout the month of May the headache persisted. Determined to put the illness behind him, he set out for nearby Barsebäck, only to find by evening that his condition was even worse than before.2 Now, however, he recognized the symptoms as those of Uppsala fever.3 Linnaeus’ own doctoral dissertation at Harderwijk dealt with this kind of intermittent fever which we now know as malaria. And in 1757 Solander’s fellow student Boström had presented a doctoral dissertation entitled Febris Upsaliensis. Following Boström’s prescription, he took an infusion of cinchona. Within a week the quinine in the cinchona improved his condition dramatically. Up and about, he decided to visit Ramlösa spa where he consulted Eberhard Rosen (1714–96), younger brother of Nils Rosén von Rosenstein and Professor of Medicine at Lund since 1744. Solander appears to have had nothing but contempt for his opinion. Writing to Linnaeus in mid-October, he declared ‘God knows how he has obtained so high a reputation here’. Solander then went over to Helsingör to collect his mail, botanize for ‘Lobelii grass’ (possibly Lobelia urens found in grassy heaths), and renew his travel arrangements; but halfway across the narrow strait which separates Sweden from Denmark, malaria regained its grip on him. Returning to Ramlösa, he treated the relapse with more cinchona. Although his condition improved, he wrote to Linnaeus that throughout July and August he was ‘neither well nor ill’. Whenever he ventured forth his constitution deteriorated. After accepting the invitation of an English rear-admiral to visit one of his men-of-war in the sound, he ‘paid dearly for the whole show’ with ‘two subsequent days of paroxysm’.4 The fever left him so weak that he could neither read nor write for more than a quarter of an hour at a time and, as he put it, ‘A short letter cost me much more labour than many sheets at another time and still little coherence’.5 Nevertheless, he persisted with his field excursions and delighted in discovering a couple of new species of Leptura (longhorn beetle). And although he also delighted in the gardens of Kropp’s Parsonage and Rosenlund Manor near Ramlösa, he was fearful that ‘damp and swampy places’ would bring on the fever again and so did little botany. For the same reason he resisted tantalizing invitations to cross the strait and visit Copenhagen—even though almost every day he could hear the guns firing in the Danish capital.
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